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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to our shareholders, 

the management team and our employees for their continued contribution and support to the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group generated revenue of approximately RMB37,102,000, with a net loss of 

approximately RMB58,050,000.

During the financial year of 2016, business volumes were decreased due to the adverse market conditions as explained below. In 

response to the market conditions, the Group has thus adopted a more conservative approach in tendering new projects which 

require advances in project costs in order to minimize our risk exposure.

With reference to Monitor Report on Global Solar Demands (《全球太陽能需求監督報告》) by GTM Research, it stated that: the 

global installed capacity of solar photovoltaic is expected to increase by 43% to 73GW in 2016. In early 2016, China surpassed 

Germany in terms of cumulative installed capacity of solar photovoltaic and has become the largest solar market in the world. 

The surge of China’s installed capacity in the first half of 2016 was mainly because companies desired to complete the installment 

prior to the maturity of feed-in tariff downward adjustment. GTM Research also pointed out that the decline of installed capacity 

dominated by China in the second half of 2016 may trigger the imbalance of supply and demand in the market. Meanwhile, 

news on abandoning wind power and photovoltaic has spread across China since 2015 and electricity generated by numerous 

photovoltaic and wind power generation projects cannot get on grid.

In view of the ongoing challenges, the Group hereby focuses on its research and development to strengthen its technology 

and experience in the photovoltaic sectors for potential projects and business development. No new construction projects were 

contracted during 2016 financial year, due to the fact that the Group had started and will continue to adopt a more conservative 

approach in tendering new projects that would usually require advances in project costs.

The Group intended to conduct the research and development (R&D) on virtual reality and wearable equipment, and the R&D 

on the function modules has started. The R&D on the distributed energy+microgrid is also planned. In addition, the Group has 

achieved success in the R&D of several off-grid miniwatt products such as Melody & Sentry, of which Melody has been certified by 

“Light Globle”, the World Bank Organization. The market is in recovery and the trial sale in Japan and US markets has also begun. 

The Group is in the course of developing and expanding its market globally including to sell Melody products on the Amazon 

Japan platform and the Amazon US platform. Moreover, the Group is actively expanding its distribution channels for Melody 

products in some other countries (including Kenya, Turkey, Taiwan, Indonesia, Batam Island, and Burma) in order to expand our 

market coverage and drive incremental sale.

The Group will continue to be committed to enhancing its competiveness, optimizing its resources and strengthening its 

management to accelerate the resumption of share trading. The Group will also keep our shareholders informed of the progress 

of resumption of trading and endeavour to improve its enterprise competitiveness so as to maximise the interests of the Group 

and its shareholders.

Chan Yee Ling Elaine

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 30 September 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group generated revenue of approximately RMB37,102,000, with a gross loss of 

approximately RMB1,247,000, and a net loss of approximately RMB58,050,000.

During 2016 financial year, faced with adverse market conditions, both the construction of photovoltaic cells segment and 

the manufacture and sale of solar products segment reported significant decreases in business volumes to approximately 

RMB1,963,000 and approximately RMB35,139,000 respectively. Gross margins of the two segments before depreciation of 

excessive production capacity slightly decreased due to market conditions. No new construction projects were contracted during 

2016 financial year, due to the fact that the Group had started and will continue to adopt a more conservative approach in 

tendering its new projects that would usually require advances in project costs.

With the depreciation of Renminbi against US Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars, receipt of government grants and some write back 

of aged payables, the Group recorded a substantial increase in other income.

On the expense side, due to an increase in legal and professional fees, the Group recorded an overall increase in its expenses.

The Group’s headcount decreased from 261 in 2015 to 184 in 2016. The Group continued with improvement programs designed 

to streamline its operations and increase productivity.

While the Group continued to maintain its leadership and market share in weak light cells, the overall shrinking market had 

inevitably affected the Group with reduced profitability in this line of business.

Yard lamp cells business was facing fierce competition by the crystalline silicon photovoltaic cells, which provided higher yields 

with lower costs. As a result, this line of business was only maintained at a minimal level.

There were no orders received for solar cell modules and solar power systems in 2016.

No new engineering projects were contracted in 2016. This was because the Group had started and will continue to adopt a 

conservative approach against tendering projects that require advances in project costs.

By virtue of the Group’s technology and experience in the photovoltaic sector accumulated over the years, as well as the strengths 

of its professional teams, the Group will endeavor to enhance its competitiveness, strive to achieve high standards of corporate 

governance and accelerate the process for resumption of its share trading, so as to maximise the interests of the Group and its 

shareholders.
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Revenue

For 2016 financial year, revenue was recorded at approximately RMB37,102,000, representing a decrease of approximately 

RMB78,615,000 or 68% as compared to 2015.

Both segments, construction of photovoltaic cells as well as the manufacture and sale of solar products, recorded decreases in 

their turnover.

Revenue of approximately RMB1,963,000 was recorded for the Construction segment in 2016, during the year there were no new 

construction contracts concluded. This was because the Group had started and will continue to adopt a conservative approach 

against tendering projects in order to minimise its risk exposure. As a result, there was a significant decrease in the turnover of 

approximately RMB15,748,000 or 89% in this segment.

Manufacture and sale of solar products segment recorded revenue of approximately RMB35,139,000, representing a decrease of 

approximately RMB62,867,000 or 64% as compared to approximately RMB98,006,000 in 2015. The decline was mainly due to 

continuous contraction of the market and lower demand.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales was approximately RMB38,349,000, representing a decrease of approximately RMB87,704,000 or 70% as compared 

to approximately RMB126,053,000 in 2015.

The decrease in cost of sales was consistent with the decrease in revenue and was mainly due to reduced revenues from both 

construction and manufacture and sale of products segments.

Gross Loss

In 2016, the Group recorded a gross loss of approximately RMB1,247,000, which represented a decrease in gross loss of 

approximately RMB9,089,000 or 88% as compared to approximately RMB10,336,000 in 2015.

The construction segment had a gross profit of approximately RMB1,865,000, representing a decrease in gross profit of 

approximately RMB242,000 or 11% as compared to 2015.

The manufacture and sale segment had a gross loss of approximately RMB3,112,000, representing a decrease in gross loss of 

approximately RMB9,331,000 or 75% as compared to 2015.
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Other Income

Other income for 2016 financial year was approximately RMB15,609,000, representing an increase of approximately 

RMB9,765,000 or 167% as compared to 2015.

Other income mainly comprised a waiver of payables of approximately RMB4,307,000, an exchange gain of approximately 

RMB5,550,000 and government grant of approximately RMB4,628,000.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for financial year 2016 were approximately RMB6,571,000, representing a decrease of 

approximately RMB1,065,000 or 14% as compared to 2015.

The decrease in selling and distribution expenses was mainly due to the decrease in exhibition and consultancy fees for the 

construction business segment.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for 2016 financial year were approximately RMB62,895,000, representing an 

increase of approximately RMB5,582,000 or 10% as compared to 2015.

The increase in administrative and other operating expenses was mainly due to an increase in legal and professional fees from 

approximately RMB10,651,000 in 2015 to approximately RMB16,956,000 in 2016.

Loss Before Tax

The net loss before tax for 2016 financial year was approximately RMB58,050,000, representing a decrease in net loss of 

approximately RMB12,886,000 or 18% as compared to 2015.

The decrease in net loss was mainly due to a decrease in gross loss of approximately RMB9,089,000, an increase in other income 

of approximately RMB9,765,000, as offset by an increase in administrative expenses of approximately RMB5,582,000.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2016 were approximately RMB222,026,000, representing a decrease of 

approximately RMB21,573,000 or 9% as compared to 30 June 2015.

The decrease was mainly attributed to a depreciation of approximately RMB25,524,000, and offset by the addition of 

approximately RMB4,498,000.
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Inventories

Inventories as at 30 June 2016 were approximately RMB8,188,000, representing a decrease of approximately RMB3,211,000 or 

28% as compared to 30 June 2015.

The decrease in business volume, mainly from the manufacture and sale segment of solar products, has resulted in the decrease in 

inventory level.

Trade and Bills Receivables and Other Receivables and Prepayments

Trade and bills receivables and other receivables and prepayments as at 30 June 2016 were approximately RMB20,710,000, which 

comprised trade and bills receivables of approximately RMB13,862,000, and other receivables and prepayments of approximately 

RMB6,848,000.

Trade and bills receivables and other receivables and prepayments as at 30 June 2016 recorded a decrease of approximately 

RMB8,537,000 or 29% as compared to 30 June 2015.

The decrease was mainly due to tightened trade receivables collection during 2016 financial year.

Contingent liabilities

Auditor expressed that no sufficient evidence had been provided to satisfy them as to the existence and completeness of the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016.

Acquisition or disposal of subsidiary and associated company

During the year ended 30 June 2016, there was no acquisition or disposal of subsidiary and associated company.

Pledge on Group assets

As at 30 June 2016, none of the assets of the Group was pledged (2015: Nil).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generated its own cash flows through its internal operations.

Significant investment

No significant investment was held during the year ended 30 June 2016.

Foreign currency exchange risk

Certain bank balances, trade receivables and trade and other payables are denominated in foreign currencies, which expose the 

Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management 

monitors foreign exchange exposure by closely monitoring the movement of foreign currency rates.

Human Resources

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had 184 employees (2015: 261). The current remuneration for the employees includes basic salary, 

discretionary bonus and social security funds. The employees’ remuneration is commensurate with their duty, performance and 

contribution.



2015-2016 Annual Report 9

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The followings are the biographical details of the current Directors as at the date of this annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Yu Ying (“Ms. Yu”)

Ms. Yu, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on 29 April 2016. She is a member of each of the remuneration 

committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the 

independent review committee (the “Independent Review Committee”) of the Company. Ms. Yu graduated from the Foreign 

Languages Department of Shenzhen University. Ms. Yu joined the Group in 2011 and was responsible for assisting the Board and 

the management on corporate governance of the Company, participating in and supervising the establishment and management 

of the Group’s overseas subsidiaries, and participating in legal and compliance affairs of the Company. Ms. Yu is currently a 

director of certain subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong, Singapore, the United States and East Africa. Ms. Yu has more than 

20 years of experience in business planning, operating and marketing. Ms. Yu is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the 

Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (“Ms. Chan”)

Ms. Chan, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and Chairlady of the Board on 7 September 

2016. She is a member of each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company and the Independent Review 

Committee. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration (Hons) from Hawaii Pacific University in 1996. 

She obtained the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong in 2001 and further a Bachelor of Laws 

(Hons) from Manchester Metropolitan University in 2003. Ms. Chan was admitted as a Solicitor in Hong Kong in 2003. During the 

years from 2006 to 2016, Ms. Chan had been a practising solicitor in various law firms and has over ten years’ experience in legal 

practice.

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (“Mr. Cai”)

Mr. Cai, aged 25, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 22 October 2015. He is a member of each of the 

Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Independent Review Committee. Mr. Cai 

graduated from The Open University of China（中央廣播電視大學）and majored in law and is currently an undergraduate student 

in economic and administration management in Nanjing Political College of People’s Liberation Army（中國人民解放軍南京政

治學院）. Mr. Cai has served as a soldier and squad leader in Anti-terrorism Team in Shanghai Armed-Police（武警上海總隊反恐

中隊）. He was an assistant director of the eleventh engineer bureau of Zhongtai Construction Group Co., Ltd（中太建設集團第

十一工程局）. He has been the legal representative and director of 上海歐買咖投資管理有限公司 (Shanghai Organic Marvelous 

Gratefull Management Limited) since November 2015.



Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited10

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (“Mr. Zhang”)

Mr. Zhang, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 July 2016. He is the chairman of each of the 

Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Independent 

Review Committee. He graduated from Renmin University of China majored in Economics. Mr. Zhang had been a reporter, 

supervisor and editor in chief in institutions including Workers Daily, Shenzhen Business Newspaper and Shenzhen News. He 

was the editor in chief of the China United Television of Shenzhen Media Group from 2011 to 2016 and has been the chairman 

of Shenzhen Media Research Association since June 2016. Mr. Zhang is currently a member of the fifth and sixth commission 

of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a member of Shenzhen City Social Development Advisory Committee, a 

member of the Cross-Media Expert Committee of the Journalism School of Renmin University of China and a visiting professor of 

Shenzhen Polytechnic.

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (“Ms. Chow”)

Ms. Chow, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 July 2016. She is a member of the Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Independent Review Committee. Ms. Chow is a seasoned 

marketing and business development professional whose career spans more than 25 years in strategic marketing, channels, brand 

management, communications, business development and financial analysis within the technology and telecommunications 

space.

Ms. Chow was marketing director at Avaya from 2000 to 2015 covering North Asia, with expanded responsibilities as marketing 

services lead for Asia Pacific, where she focused on driving growth, improving and transforming brands, developing channels, 

building for operational scale and creating initiatives to quickly and efficiently support business momentum.

Prior to that, Ms. Chow was marketing director for Enterprise Networks at Lucent Technologies. She also led product management 

and business development at AT&T and Hutchison Telecoms. Ms. Chow holds a Master of Science degree in E-Commerce from the 

Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Science degree with magna cum laude in Business Administration (Finance 

and Economics options) from California State University, Hayward.

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (“Mr. Fu”)

Mr. Fu, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 August 2016. He is the chairman of the Audit 

Committee and the Independent Review Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 

Committee. Mr. Fu is a CPA, being member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA). He is also an 

associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS). During his 38 years with CLP Group, he was 

involved in the formulation of financial policies, strategies and planning of the group, annual report preparation, consolidated 

financial reporting, budgeting and financial control, review and monitoring of the Scheme of Control signed with the Hong 

Kong SAR Government, project financing, group taxation, preparation of results announcement and merger and acquisition 

announcement in compliance with the listing rules of Hong Kong and the United States of America, internal control, business 

performance monitoring as well as system development, etc. His last position held was the deputy director of Finance and 

Business Support Department of CLP Power HK.



2015-2016 Annual Report 11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group acknowledges the need and importance of corporate governance as one of the key elements in enhancing 

shareholders’ value. The Group is committed to improving its corporate governance practices in compliance with regulatory 

requirements and in accordance with international recommended practices. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance 

Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. During the year ended 30 

June 2016, the Company was in compliance with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviations 

explained below.

Code Provisions Reasons for the deviations and improvement actions taken or  

to be taken

A.2.1 During the year ended 30 June 2016, Mr. Li Yi, the former chairman of the 

Company, was also acting as the chief executive officer of the Company. 

With effect from 7 September 2016, Mr. Li Yi resigned as the chairman and 

chief executive officer of the Company and Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine has 

been appointed as the chairlady of the Company. After evaluation of the 

current situation of the Company and taking into account of the experience 

and past performance of Mr. Li Yi, the Board is of the opinion that it is 

appropriate and in the best interests of the Company to separate the two 

roles of chairman and chief executive officer. Mr. Huang Henry Xiao Shi, 

the general vice president of the Company, has taken up the responsibility 

of acting chief executive officer of the Company until the Company has 

identified suitable candidate to fill up the vacancy.

A.4.2 No general meeting was held during the year ended 30 June 2016 due to no 

audited financial statements of the Group were available for presentation 

to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). However, the 

annual general meeting of the Company was held on 8 August 2016 (the 

“AGM”) at which, the then Directors retired and had been re-elected by 

the Shareholders.
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Code Provisions Reasons for the deviations and improvement actions taken or  

to be taken

A.6.7 No general meeting was held during the year ended 30 June 2016 due to no 

audited financial statements of the Group were available for presentation 

to the Shareholders. However, the AGM was held on 8 August 2016. Mr. 

Hu Bing, the then independent non-Executive Director, and Mr. Cai Zhipeng 

and Ms. Chow Wai Fong, independent non-executive Directors, did not 

attend the AGM due to other business engagement.

C.1.2 The management of the Company did not provide a regular monthly 

update to all members of the Board, but the management would provide 

information and update to the members of the Board as required.

E.1.1, E.1.2, E.1.3, E.2.1 No general meeting was held during the year ended 30 June 2016 due to no 

audited financial statements of the Group were available for presentation 

to the Shareholders. However, the AGM was held on 8 August 2016.

Save as those mentioned above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has met the code provisions set out in the CG Code 

during the year ended 30 June 2016.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code (“Model Code”) for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in 

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific 

enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the Model 

Code for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions 

and performance. The management was delegated the authority and responsibility by the Board for the management of the 

Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these 

committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of one executive Director and five independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Director

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (appointed on 7 September 2016)

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015)

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016)

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016)

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016)

The current Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such 

balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence across the Board and has complied with Rule 3.10A of 

the Listing Rule that the Board to have at least one-third of its members comprising independent nonexecutive Directors. The 

composition of the Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the current Directors is set out on pages 9 to 10 under the section headed “Biographical Details 

of Directors”.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance 

and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the implementation of strategies 

approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and the 

ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and regulations.
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Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional development to 

develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development by way of reading materials in relation to regulatory 

updates and provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 30 June 2016 is summarized below:–

Name of Director

Reading materials 

in relation to 

regulatory updates

Mr. Li Yi (resigned on 7 September 2016) ✓

Mr. Yeung Sik Keung (resigned with effect from 1 September 2015) N/A

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016) ✓

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016) ✓

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016) ✓

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015) N/A

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (appointed on 7 September 2016) N/A

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015) ✓

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016) N/A

The Company will conduct tailor-made trainings in respect of the compliance with the Listing Rules, corporate governance and/or 

accounting and finance issues to all the Directors and senior management of the Company

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Company did not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Li Yi 

performed these two roles. Upon resignation of Mr. Li Yi as the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company with effect 

from 7 September 2016, Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine has been appointed as the chairlady of the Board in place of Mr. Li Yi with 

effect from 7 September 2016 and Mr. Huang Henry Xiao Shi, the general vice president of the Company, has taken up the 

responsibility of acting chief executive officer of the Company until the Company has identified suitable candidate to fill up the 

vacancy.
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Non-executive Directors

The current independent non-executive Directors are persons of high calibers, with academic and professional qualifications in 

the fields of legal, accounting, finance and management. With their experience gained from various sectors, they provide strong 

support towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each of the current independent non-

executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of 

the current independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The current independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years which is automatically renewable upon 

the expiry of the said term, and they are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the 

Company (the “Articles”).

Board Meetings

During the year, the Board held 11 meetings. The attendance records of the Directors at the said Board meetings are set out 

below:–

Name of Director Number of attendance

Mr. Li Yi (resigned on 7 September 2016) 11/11

Mr. Yeung Sik Keung (resigned with effect from 1 September 2015) 1/1

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016) 4/4

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016) 11/11

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016) 11/11

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015) 4/4

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (appointed on 7 September 2016) N/A

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015) 7/7

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016) N/A

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled 

to have access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company 

Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.
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General Meeting

During the year ended 30 June 2016, no general meeting of the Company has been held.

Nomination of Directors

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take into account the qualification, ability, working experience, 

leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the solar industry and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference on 13 September 2010 and currently 

consists of one executive Director, namely Ms. Yu Ying and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Xuehu 

(as chairman), Mr. Cai Zhipeng, Ms. Chow Wai Fong and Mr. Fu Wah Sun. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee 

has been revised on 29 August 2013 and is aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, and is currently made 

available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The function of the Nomination Committee is reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge 

and experience) of the Board, identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the independence of 

the independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of 

Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board adopted on 22 August 2013 a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and delegated certain duties 

under the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of 

a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional 

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and 

specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy from 

time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
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During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Nomination Committee held two meetings for nomination of an independent non-

executive Director and an executive Director, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, considering 

the re-election of Directors, and reviewing the composition of the Board. The attendance records of the members are set out 

below.

Name of Director Number of attendance

Mr. Li Yi (resigned on 7 September 2016) 2/2

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016) N/A

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016) 2/2

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016) 2/2

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015) 1/1

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015) 1/1

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016) N/A

Remuneration of Directors

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference on 13 September 2010 and currently 

consists of one executive Director, namely Ms. Yu Ying and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Xuehu 

(as chairman), Mr. Cai Zhipeng, Ms. Chow Wai Fong and Mr. Fu Wah Sun. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee 

is aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and 

the Company’s website.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are establishing and reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration for the 

Directors and senior management.
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During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Remuneration Committee had two meetings for making recommendation to the Board 

on the remuneration of newly appointed Directors and reviewing the remuneration structure of Directors and senior management. 

The attendance records of the members are set out below.

Name of Director Number of attendance

Mr. Li Yi (resigned on 7 September 2016) 2/2

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016) N/A

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016) 2/2

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016) 2/2

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015) 1/1

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015) 1/1

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016) N/A

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 13 September 2010. The purpose of the Share 

Option Scheme is to motivate eligible persons to maximize their future contributions to the Group, to attract and retain such 

eligible persons who are important to and/or whom contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success 

of our Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the Report of the Directors. The emolument payable to Directors will depend 

on their respective contractual terms under the services contracts, if any, and as recommended by the Remuneration Committee. 

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the audited financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 13 September 2010 with written terms of reference 

and currently comprises five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Wah Sun (as chairman), Mr. Cai Zhipeng, Mr. 

Zhang Xuehu, Ms. Chow Wai Fong and Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and 

removal of the external auditors and to approve their remuneration and terms of engagement; reviewing the financial statements, 

annual and half-yearly reports of the Group; and ensuring the effectiveness of the financial reporting, risk management and 

internal control systems of the Group.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, and is currently made 

available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Audit Committee held two meetings for reviewing the management accounts of the 

Group and reviewing the annual results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively, and 

the interim results for the six months ended 31 December 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. The attendance records of the 

members are set out below.

Name of Director Number of attendance

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016) 2/2

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016) 2/2

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015) 2/2

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015) N/A

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016) N/A

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016) N/A

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (appointed on 7 September 2016) N/A

Auditor’s Remuneration

The current auditor of the Company is Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”). For the year ended 30 June 2016, the 

remuneration paid/payable to Zhonghui Anda is set out below: –

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$’000

Audit services 1,760

Non-audit services 205

1,965

Shareholder Rights

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained in the 

Articles. Details of such rights to demand a poll were included in the circular to shareholders in relation to the holding of general 

meeting and explained, together with the procedures for conducting a poll, at the commencement of the meetings.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholder at a general meeting must be taken by poll. As such, all 

resolutions to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be voted by poll.
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Investor Relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its 

shareholders. The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 

and investor’s understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.

• Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all shareholders;

• Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other 

announcements and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; 

and

• The general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Due to the suspension in trading of the Company’s Shares, despatch of the Annual Reports 2011/2012, 2012/2013, 2013/2014 

and 2014/2015, and the Interim Reports 2012/2013, 2013/2014, 2014/2015 and 2015/2016 to the Shareholders has been 

delayed. On 17 June 2016, the Company has despatched all the above said outstanding financial reports to Shareholders.

No general meeting was held during the year ended 30 June 2016 due to no audited financial statements of the Group were 

available for presentation to the Shareholders during the year. However, the AGM was held on 8 August 2016.

The Chairlady of the Company will attend the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to answer questions from the 

meeting.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s financial statements for each financial period which gives a 

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the financial 

statements for the year ended 30 June 2016, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; 

made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and the Directors believe that the Group would have 

sufficient working capital for the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due and for its operation, and in the opinion that it is 

appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all 

reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Save as disclosed in the qualifications to the auditor’s opinions, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to 

continue in business for the foreseeable future and are not aware of any other material uncertainties that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The auditor 

of the Company had given certain qualifications in their opinion which are set out on pages 33 to 35 of this annual report which 

should draw the Shareholders’ attention.
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Internal Control

Management has implemented a system of internal control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group’s assets are 

safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, appropriate legislation and regulations are complied with, reliable 

financial information are provided for management and publication purpose and investment and business risks affecting the 

Group are identified and managed.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard Shareholders’ investments and 

Company’s assets and with the support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Board has conducted a review of the system of internal control to ensure the 

effectiveness and adequacy of the system.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to submit their report together with the 

audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Proposed Cancellation of Listing

On 8 April 2016, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange notifying the Company, among others, that the Listing 

Department intends to commence procedures to cancel the listing of the Company under Rule 6.01 of the Listing Rules by 

issuing an announcement under Rule 6.10 to provide the Company with further time to rectify the matters that have rendered 

it unsuitable for listing, failing which the Listing Department will recommend to the Listing Committee to proceed with the 

cancellation of the Company’s listing (“Proposed Cancellation of Listing”).

By a letter from the Stock Exchange dated 20 June 2016, the Company has been notified that a review hearing (“Review 

Hearing”) had been scheduled on 30 August 2016 to have the Proposed Cancellation of Listing reviewed by the Listing 

Committee.

Following the Review Hearing on 30 August 2016, the Company on 5 September 2016 received a letter from the Stock Exchange 

notifying the Company, among other things, that the Listing Committee decided to uphold the decision of the Listing Department 

to commence the procedures to cancel the Company’s listing under Rules 6.01(4) and 6.04. The Company would have a period 

of 6 months from the announcement to be published by the Listing Department to remedy the matters that have rendered it 

unsuitable for listing, failing which Listing Department would make a recommendation to the Listing Committee to proceed with 

the cancellation of the Company’s listing (the “Committee Decision”).

In response to the Committee Decision, the Company on 9 September 2016 submitted a written request to the Listing 

Department for a review of the Committee Decision. The Company is awaiting response from the Stock Exchange on the 

procedural arrangements on the further review.

The Company made written request on 9 September 2016 to the Stock Exchange to plead with the Stock Exchange to reconsider 

its intention to commence procedures to cancel the listing of the Company. The Company received a letter from Stock Exchange 

dated 12 September 2016, stating that further review hearing was scheduled on 22 November 2016.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Group are development, manufacture and sale of 

solar products.

Results and Appropriations

The Group’s results for the year ended 30 June 2016 are set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income on page 36.
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Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the year ended 30 June 2016 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Business Review

Company’s Business

The business review of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016, including an indication of likely future developments in the 

Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis as set out on pages 5 to 8 of this annual report. 

These discussions form part of this directors’ report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group realised the importance of sufficient financial funding. The Group will keep on monitoring and measuring the liquidity 

and funding risk on an on-going basis, and ensuring a sufficient cash flow for the business operations.

Other risks and uncertainties are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis Using Financial Key Performance Indicators

For the analysis using financial key performance indicators, please refer to the sections titled “Management Discussion and 

Analysis” of this report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

With increasing concerns of environmental issues, both government and business sectors become hypersensitive. Despite certain 

expensive environmentally friendly measures have been planned and will continue to be implemented, we still strive to implement 

more stringent practices.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and therefore the Company is subject to The Companies Law (2013 

Revision) of the Cayman Islands. In addition, the Company is registered as a non-Hong Kong Company under Part 16 of the 

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and therefore is subject to the relevant 

provisions under the Companies Ordinance.



Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited24

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules 

including the disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance 

(Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short 

positions and a register of directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or 

inside information.

The principal activities of the Group are carried out in the PRC as well as overseas. Therefore, the Group is subject to the relevant 

laws and regulations in the respective jurisdiction where business is carried out.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Company recognizes that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration package to 

attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary 

adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners, including customers and 

suppliers, and bank enterprises to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the management have kept good communication, 

promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them when appropriate. During the year under review, there was no 

material and significant dispute between the Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 are set out in note 16 to the financial 

statements.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The employees of Trony Science are members of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. 

Trony Science is required to contribute 10% of the total monthly basic salaries of the current employees to the retirement benefits 

scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the 

specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of approximately RMB1,474,000 for the year 

ended 30 June 2016 (2015: RMB1,612,000), represents contributions payable to the scheme for the year.
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Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business, apart from the Group’s business, that competes or compared or is likely 

to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the year ended 30 June 2016 and up to and 

including the date of this annual report.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which 

the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders 

of the Company.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the period 

from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.

Distributable Reserves

As at 30 June 2016, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders amounted to approximately 

RMB1,895,217,000.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:–

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yi (resigned on 7 September 2016)

Mr. Yeung Sik Keung (resigned with effect from 1 September 2015)

Ms. Yu Ying (appointed on 29 April 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing (resigned on 19 August 2016)

Mr. Yan Lihu (resigned on 20 July 2016)

Mr. Wu Yi (resigned on 22 October 2015)

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine (appointed on 7 September 2016)

Mr. Cai Zhipeng (appointed on 22 October 2015)

Mr. Zhang Xuehu (appointed on 19 July 2016)

Ms. Chow Wai Fong (appointed on 19 July 2016)

Mr. Fu Wah Sun (appointed on 19 August 2016)
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In accordance with article 107(1) of the Company’s Articles, Ms. Yu Ying and Mr. Cai Zhipeng shall retire and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 102(3) of the Company’s Articles, Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine and Mr. Fu Wah Sun shall retire and, being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Independence Confirmation

Each of the current independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules. The Company considers all of the current independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the 

Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 13 September 2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate 

eligible persons to maximize their future contributions to the Group, to attract and retain such eligible persons who are important 

to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of our Group.

The maximum number of Share which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 

and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of listing of the 

Shares on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”), that is, 152,704,678 Shares. No option may be granted to any participant 

of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted 

and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued 

share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined 

by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must 

be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon 

acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board 

in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five 

Business Days immediately preceding the offer date.
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The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will 

be granted or offered.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 September 2010.

Details of movement of share options during the year ended 30 June 2016 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:–

Number of share options

Name or category of 
participants

Outstanding 
as at 1 July 

2015

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Cancelled 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

30 June 2016
Exercise 

price Date of Grant Exercisable Period
(HK$) (Note)

Employees 6,130,000 – – – – 6,130,000 4.80 9 March 2011 9 September 2011 to  
9 March 2018

Sub-total 6,130,000 – – – – 6,130,000

Total 6,130,000 – – – – 6,130,000

Note: – The first one fourth of the Share Options are exercisable from 9 September 2011;

– The second one fourth of the Share Options are exercisable from 9 September 2012;

– The third one fourth of the Share Options are exercisable from 9 September 2013; and

– The remaining one fourth of the Share Options are exercisable from 9 September 2014

All unexercised Share Options shall lapse on 9 March 2018.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to 

enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Ms. Yu Ying, an executive Director, did not enter into a service contract with the Company. However, she is subject to retirement 

and re-election at the next annual general meeting of the Company after her appointment and thereafter subject to retirement by 

rotation and re-election at least once in every three years in accordance with the Articles.
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Mr. Cai Zhipeng, an independent non-executive Director, has signed an appointment letter issued by the Company on 22 October 

2015 for an initial term of three years commencing from 22 October 2015, which is automatically renewable for a term of three 

years upon the expiry of the said term until termination according to the terms of the appointment letter.

Mr. Zhang Xuehu and Ms. Chow Wai Fong, both independent non-executive Directors, have each signed an appointment letter 

issued by the Company on 19 July 2016 for an initial term of three years commencing from 19 July 2016, which is automatically 

renewable for a term of three years upon the expiry of the said term until termination according to the terms of each appointment 

letter.

Mr. Fu Wah Sun, an independent non-executive Director, has signed an appointment letter issued by the Company on 19 August 

2016 for an initial term of three years commencing from 19 August 2016, which is automatically renewable for a term of three 

years upon the expiry of the said term until termination according to the terms of the appointment letter.

Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine, an independent non-executive Director, has signed an appointment letter issued by the Company on 7 

September 2016 for an initial term of three years commencing from 7 September 2016, which is automatically renewable for a 

term of three years upon the expiry of the said term or until termination according to the terms of the appointment letter.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the 

Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Disclosure of Information on Directors Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, below are the changes in remuneration of Directors required to be 

disclosed.

With effect from 13 September 2016: –

• the remuneration of Mr. Cai Zhipeng has been adjusted to HK$38,000 per month;

• the remuneration of Ms. Chow Wai Fong has been adjusted to HK$38,000 per month;

• the remuneration of Mr. Zhang Xuehu has been adjusted to HK$40,000 per month; and

• the remuneration of Mr. Fu Wah Sun has been adjusted to HK$45,000 per month.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts

None of the Directors had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business 

of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Charitable Donation

During the year, the Group did not make charitable donation.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Company were entered into or existed during the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against 

its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the 

benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance when the Directors’ Report prepared by the 

Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares of the Company

As at 30 June 2016, the interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated 

corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the 

provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered 

in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, are set out below:

Name of Director

Capacity/nature of 

interest

Long position/

short position Number of shares

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

Mr. Li Yi (“Mr. Li”) (Note) Beneficiary of a trust Long position 621,497,910 39.22%

Note: These 621,497,910 shares are held by Sky Sense Investments Limited (“Sky Sense”) and Lakes Invest Limited (“Lakes Invest”) which were 

wholly-owned by Spring Shine International Limited, which was owned as to 50% by Seletar Limited and 50% by Serangoon Limited, as 

nominees and trustees for Credit Suisse Trust Limited. Credit Suisse Trust Limited is the trustee holding such interests in Lakes Invest and 

Sky Sense on trust for the beneficiaries of the Li Family Trust. Mr. Li is therefore deemed to be interested in all the shares held by each of 

Sky Sense and Lakes Invest as a beneficiary of the Li Family Trust.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their associates, had any interest or short 

position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations which were recorded in the 

register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 

Model Code as at 30 June 2016.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 30 June 2016, so far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, the persons or corporations (other 

than Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the 

Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or 

which were recorded in the register to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Name of shareholder

Capacity/nature of 

interest

Long position/

short position Number of shares

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

Spring Shine International Limited  

(Note 1)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation

Long position 620,497,910 39.16%

Credit Suisse Trust Limited (Note 1) Trustee of a trust Long position 620,497,910 39.16%

Seletar Limited (Note 1) Trustee of a trust Long position 620,497,910 39.16%

Serangoon Limited (Note 1) Trustee of a trust Long position 620,497,910 39.16%

Lakes Invest Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 542,700,000 34.25%

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.  

(Note 2)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation

Long position 221,674,392 13.99%

ICBC International Holdings Limited  

(Note 2)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation

Long position 221,674,392 13.99%

Industrial and Commercial Bank of  

China Limited (Note 2)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation

Long position 221,674,392 13.99%

ICBC International Fund  

Management Limited (Note 2)

Beneficial owner, security 

interest

Long position 163,722,350 10.33%
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Notes:

(1) Each of Sky Sense and Lakes Invest is wholly-owned by Spring Shine International Limited, which in turn is owned as to 50% by Seletar 

Limited and 50% by Serangoon Limited, as nominees and trustees for Credit Suisse Trust Limited, which is acting as the trustee of the Li 

Family Trust. Therefore, each of Sprint Shine Trust Limited, Credit Suisse Trust Limited, Seletar Limited, Serangoon Limited is deemed to be 

interested in all the shares of the Company held by Sky Sense and Lakes Invest.

(2) ICBC International Fund Management and ICBC International Strategic Investment Limited are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ICBC 

International Holdings Limited. ICBC International Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Industrial and Commercial Bank of 

China Limited. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited is controlled by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Therefore Central Huijin 

Investment Ltd., Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited and ICBC International Holdings Limited are deemed to be interested in 

all shares held by ICBC International Fund Management and all shares held by ICBC International Strategic Investment Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of 

the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 30 June 2016.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding 

securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors 

have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s purchase from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 58% of the Group’s total 

purchases and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 18% of the Group’s total 

purchases.

During the year, the Group’s sales to the five largest customers accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s total turnover 

and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 9% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the Directors of the Company, their associates, nor any shareholder which to the best knowledge of the Directors own 

more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and 

suppliers.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has 

maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the 

CG Code, and currently comprises five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Wah Sun (as chairman), Mr. Cai 

Zhipeng, Mr. Zhang Xuehu, Ms. Chow Wai Fong and Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to 

ensure effectiveness of the financial reporting process, as well as risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The 

Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 11 to 21 of this annual 

report.

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 17 February 2015.

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 17 February 2015. Zhonghui Anda 

CPA Limited will only hold office until the conclusion of the next following annual general meeting of the Company.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting for the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited 

as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

TRONY SOLAR HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

Chan Yee Ling Elaine

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 30 September 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

TRONY SOLAR HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 36 to 79, which comprise the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at 30 June 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely 

to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 

for the contents of this report. Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as explained below, we 

conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Because of the matters as 

described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs and the material uncertainty relating to the going concern basis, 

however, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1. Opening balances and corresponding figures

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015, which forms 

the basis for the corresponding figures presented in the current year’s consolidated financial statements, was disclaimed 

because of the significance of the possible effect of the limitations on the scope of our audit and the material uncertainty 

relating to the going concern basis, details of which are set out in our audit report dated 29 April 2016.

There were no satisfactory audit procedures to ascertain the existence, accuracy, presentation and completeness of certain 

opening balances and corresponding figures (as further detail explained in the following paragraphs) shown in the current 

year’s consolidated financial statements.

2. Trade and other payables

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to the carrying amount of the trade and other payables 

amounted to approximately RMB265,697,000 and RMB274,652,000 as at 30 June 2016 and 2015 respectively are fairly 

stated.

3. Commitments and contingent liabilities

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to the existence and completeness of the disclosures of 

commitments and contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016 and 2015.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 3 above might have a significant consequential effect on the Group’s 

results and cash flows for the two years ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 and the financial positions of the Group as at 30 June 

2016 and 2015, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO THE GOING CONCERN BASIS

The disclosures in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements indicates the Group incurred a loss for the year of 

approximately RMB58,050,000 for the year ended 30 June 2016 and net current liabilities of approximately RMB131,472,000 

in the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2016. These conditions indicate the existence 

of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of the 

extent of the uncertainty relating to the future working capital sufficiency of the Group, we disclaim our opinion in respect of the 

material uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.



2015-2016 Annual Report 35

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters as described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs and the material 

uncertainty relating to the going concern basis, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide 

a basis for an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. In all other 

respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Practising Certificate Number P05988

Hong Kong, 30 September 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 7 37,102 115,717

Cost of sales and services provided (38,349) (126,053)

Gross loss (1,247) (10,336)

Other income 8 15,609 5,844

Selling and distribution expenses (6,571) (7,636)

Administrative and other operating expenses (62,895) (57,313)

Loss from operations (55,104) (69,441)

Impairment losses on various assets 12 (2,946) (511)

Finance costs 10 – (984)

Loss before tax (58,050) (70,936)

Income tax 11 – –

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company 12 (58,050) (70,936)

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 3,618 365

Total other comprehensive income for the year 3,618 365

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to  

the owners of the Company (54,432) (70,571)

Loss per share 15

Basic (RMB per share) (0.04) (0.04)

Diluted (RMB per share) (0.04) (0.04)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 30 JUNE 2016

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16 222,026 243,599

Prepaid land lease payments 17 9,874 10,134

231,900 253,733

Current assets

Inventories 18 8,188 11,399

Trade and bills receivables 19 13,862 22,266

Other receivables and prepayments 20 6,848 6,981

Prepaid land lease payments 17 260 260

Bank and cash balances 21 132,669 153,812

161,827 194,718

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 293,299 293,591

Net current liabilities (131,472) (98,873)

NET ASSETS 100,428 154,860

Capital and reserves

Share capital 23 1,000 1,000

Reserves 25 99,428 153,860

TOTAL EQUITY 100,428 154,860

The consolidated financial statements on pages 36 to 79 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 

September 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Yu Ying Ms. Chan Yee Ling Elaine

Director Director



Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited38

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Share-based 

payment 

reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Accumulated 

loss Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 2014 1,000 1,895,217 5,077 20,536 (4) (1,695,637) 226,189

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – 365 (70,936) (70,571)

Share-based payments – – – (758) – – (758)

Forfeiture of share options – – – (3,810) – 3,810 –

At 30 June 2015 1,000 1,895,217 5,077 15,968 361 (1,762,763) 154,860

At 1 July 2015 1,000 1,895,217 5,077 15,968 361 (1,762,763) 154,860

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – 3,618 (58,050) (54,432)

At 30 June 2016 1,000 1,895,217 5,077 15,968 3,979 (1,820,813) 100,428
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax (58,050) (70,936)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 25,524 24,794

Amortisation 260 260

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 274 –

Interest income (422) (1,041)

Finance costs – 984

Share-based payment expenses – (758)

Waiver of trade payables (4,307) –

Government grant (4,628) (1,734)

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (5,550) (2,025)

Impairment losses on various assets 2,946 511

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (43,953) (49,945)

Change in inventories 3,211 17,980

Change in trade and bills receivables 7,530 24,567

Change in other receivables and prepayments (638) 3,840

Change in trade and other payables 3,829 (57,763)

Cash used in operations (30,021) (61,321)

Income tax paid – (1,253)

Net cash used in operating activities (30,021) (62,574)
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2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,312) (2,899)

Interest received 422 1,041

Proceeds from disposals of an associate – 8,795

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (3,890) 6,937

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings – (2,125)

Government grant received 4,628 1,734

Interest paid – (984)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 4,628 (1,375)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (29,283) (57,012)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 8,140 2,568

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 153,812 208,256

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 132,669 153,812

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Bank and cash balances 132,669 153,812

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – continued
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 23 June 2006 as an 

exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered 

office is Walker House, 87 Mary Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. The address of the 

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 1502, 15th Floor, The Chinese Bank Building, 61-65 Des 

Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and have been suspended for trading since 21 June 2012.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 

“the Group”) are development, manufacture and sale of solar products and construction of photovoltaic cells. The principal 

activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 11 October 2012. The Company’s predecessor auditor, Deloitte 

Touche Tohmatsu, who has subsequently resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 7 February 2015, had 

received various anonymous emails in March 2012 and an anonymous letter on 20 April 2012 which contained certain 

allegations against the Company regarding several possible financial discrepancies (the “Potential Financial Discrepancies”) 

in respect of the financial records of the Group (collectively the “Allegations”).

In response to the Allegations, an Independent Review Committee (the “IRC”) comprising the three independent non-

executive directors of the Company was established on 21 May 2012 by the board of the directors of the Company (the 

“Board”) to conduct an inquiry into the Allegations concerned and the Company appointed an independent external law 

firm in the Mainland China, namely Guangdong SZGoldenBull Law Firm as its legal advisor in the People’s Republic of China 

(the “PRC”) to assist the Company in conducting the inquiry of the Allegations. At the request of the Company, trading in 

the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been suspended since 21 June 2012.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION – continued

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company – continued

On 20 July 2012, the Company also appointed King & Wood Mallesons (“KWM”) as the Company’s legal adviser as to 

Hong Long Law in respect to the matters relating to the Allegations. PricewaterhouseCoopers Consulting Hong Kong 

Limited (“PwC”) was subsequently appointed on 19 September 2012 as an independent professional adviser to assist the 

IRC to carry out a forensic review (the “Forensic Review”) of the Allegations and report the respective findings for KWM to 

advise the IRC particularly on the Potential Financial Discrepancies from a legal perspective.

For the period from March to October 2012, there were several changes in the directors of the Company and senior 

management of the Group including (i) resignation of finance director of Shenzhen Trony Science and Technology 

Development Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary and a major operating unit of the Company with effect from 1 March 

2012; (ii) retirement of the vice president of production of the Group with effect from 6 March 2012; (iii) resignation of an 

executive director (also as an executive vice president) of the Company, with effect from 21 August 2012; (iv) resignation 

of the chief financial officer of the Group with effect from 22 August 2012; (v) the appointment of a new chief financial 

officer on 21 August 2012; (vi) resignation of a non-executive director of the Company on 4 September 2012, and (vii) the 

appointment of a new executive director (the “New Executive Director”) on 3 October 2012.

On 3 October 2012, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange detailing the resumption conditions imposed 

on the Company as follows:

(i) Engage a professional firm to conduct a forensic review and investigation over the Potential Financial Discrepancies, 

the allegations enclosed in the anonymous letters and the issues raised in the legal advisors report from Guangdong 

SZGoldenBull Law Firm;

(ii) Inform the market of all information that is necessary to appraise the Company’s position, including their implications 

to the Company’s assets, financial and operational position;

(iii) Publish all outstanding financial results and reports, and address any concerns raised by the Company’s auditors 

through qualifications in their audit report or otherwise;

(iv) Demonstrate that there are no significant deficiencies in the Company’s corporate governance, and that the 

Company has put in place adequate financial reporting procedures and internal control systems to meet obligations 

under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”); and

(v) Demonstrate that, in light of the recent resignations of the Company’s directors and senior management members, 

the Company has adequate resources (in particular senior level staff with appropriate qualifications and experience) 

to safeguard the Company’s assets and to meet obligations under the Listing Rules.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION – continued

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company – continued

The Company should also comply with the Listing Rules and all applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and its place 

of incorporation before the resumption of its share trading. The Stock Exchange may modify any of the above and/or 

impose further conditions at its discretion.

On 7 February 2013, the Company’s three independent non-executive directors resigned from the position and the IRC 

became vacant. With this regard, the New Executive Director was appointed as the only member of the IRC with effect 

from 15 March 2013. On 15 May 2013, another three independent non-executive directors have been appointed to fill in 

the vacancies of members of the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and the IRC of the 

Company. Subsequently, on 1 September 2015, the New Executive Director has resigned from the position.

With reference to the Company’s announcement dated 12 December 2014, PwC completed the fieldwork of the Forensic 

Review in respect of the Allegations, particularly the Potential Financial Discrepancies, on 31 July 2013 and a summary 

of the findings of the Forensic Review was finalised and issued by PwC to KWM on 6 November 2014 (the “Forensic 

Review Summary”). Based on the results of the Forensic Review, PwC were unable to conclude the Allegations due to 

various limitations in obtaining relevant and sufficient supporting documents and evidences, and most of the relevant key 

management were not available for PwC’s interviews. PwC had not been able to identify any linkage from the supporting 

documents to the Company’s previous audited financial statements. Due to the lack of supporting documents/information 

or other factors set out in the Forensic Review Summary, the IRC was not in a position to draw any conclusion as to the 

completeness or accuracy of the financial data and concludes that those limitations are incapable of being resolved in their 

totality and thus it is unlikely that further investigation would arrive at any satisfactory findings.

The Forensic Review Summary has been considered and accepted by the IRC and the Board respectively. For further details 

of scope the Forensic Review, a summary of findings, limitations and preliminary views of the IRC and the Board, please 

refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 December 2014. The Board accepted and concurred with the views of 

the IRC that auditing of the Group’s outstanding financial statements should be commenced as soon as possible and an 

independent internal control expert should be engaged to conduct an overall review of the internal control and financial 

reporting system of the Group. Upon finalisation of the Forensic Review, the Company also appointed PKF Consulting Inc. 

to undertake a review of the internal control system of the Group to strengthen its internal control and financial reporting 

systems of the Group. The Company is also in the process of preparing to fulfill all the required resumption conditions in 

relation to the application for the resumption of trading in the shares of the Company.

On 8 April 2016, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange (the “Show Cause Letter”). The Listing 

Department of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Department”) intends to commence procedures to cancel the listing 

of the Company under Listing Rule 6.01 by issuing an announcement under Listing Rule 6.10 to provide the Company 

with further time to rectify the matters that have render it unsuitable for listing, failing which the Listing Department will 

recommend to the Listing Committee to proceed with the cancellation of the Company’s listing.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION – continued

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company – continued

On 9 and 20 May 2016, the Company made written submissions to the Stock Exchange detailing, amongst other things, 

the current progress of work done by the Company and its ongoing plan towards fulfilling the conditions of resumption of 

trading imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchange, and pleaded with the Stock Exchange to reconsider its intention 

to commence procedures to cancel the listing of the Company under Listing Rule 6.01 and grant the Company additional 

time to fulfil the remaining of the conditions for resumption.

On 3 June 2016, the Company received a further letter (“Decision Letter”) from the Stock Exchange notifying the Company 

that the Listing Department has decided to commence the procedures to cancel the Company’s listing under Rule 6.01(4) 

and 6.04 and the grounds set out in the Show Cause Letter. The Company was notified in the Decision Letter that it has the 

right to have the Decision reviewed by the Listing Committee. In this connection, the Company has on 8 and 15 June 2016 

submitted its request for review of the Decision. By a letter from the Stock Exchange dated 20 June 2016, the Company has 

been notified that a review hearing (“Review Hearing”) has been scheduled on 30 August 2016. The Company attended 

the Review Hearing on 30 August 2016.

On 5 September 2016, the Company received a letter from Stock Exchange. The Listing Committee considered the 

submissions and decided to uphold the Listing Department’s decision to commence the procedures to cancel the 

Company’s listing.

The Company made written request on 9 September 2016 to the Stock Exchange to plead with the Stock Exchange to 

reconsider its intention to commence procedures to cancel the listing of the Company. The Company received a letter from 

Stock Exchange dated 12 September 2016, stating that further review hearing was scheduled on 22 November 2016.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB58,050,000 for the year ended 30 June 2016 and net current liabilities 

of approximately RMB131,472,000 in the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2016. 

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business. The Directors believe that the Group would have sufficient working capital for the Group to 

meet its liabilities as they fall due and for its operation, and in the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated 

financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments 

would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their 

recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-

current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected 

in the consolidated financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting 

year beginning on 1 July 2015. IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards; International Accounting 

Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to the 

Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and 

prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already 

commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these 

new and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on its results of operations and financial position.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs, and the applicable disclosures required by the 

Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The functional currencies of the 

Company and its major subsidiaries in the PRC is Renminbi (“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the consolidated 

financial statements, the Group adopted RMB as its presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand 

except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. 

It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas 

involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial statements, are 

disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 

June 2016. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 

power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability 

to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Consolidation – continued

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other 

parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability 

to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the 

date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in RMB, which is the presentation currency and the functional currency of the Company 

and its major subsidiaries in the PRC.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange 

rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 

exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are 

recognised in profit or loss.



2015-2016 Annual Report 47

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Foreign currency translation – continued

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the 

Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that statement of financial position;

– Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable 

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 

and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of 

borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 

differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are 

incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Property, plant and equipment – continued

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values 

over the estimated useful lifes on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of lease terms or 5%

Plant and machinery 6.67% – 10%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% – 20%

Motor vehicles 10%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending installation, and is 

stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Operating leases

The Group as lessee

Leases that do not substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets to the Group are accounted for 

as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for 

as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. 

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 

all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group 

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On 

derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 

received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or 

loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or 

expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is established 

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 

of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the receivables’ carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. The amount 

of the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the recoverable 

amount of the receivables can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to 

the restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the 

amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand 

deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible 

into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable 

on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash 

equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 

into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract 

that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies 

adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 

for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that 

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

(a) Revenues from the sales of manufactured goods and trading of raw materials are recognised on the transfer of 

significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and 

the title has passed to the customers.

(b) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(c) Revenue from construction contracts is recognised under the percentage of completion method, measured by 

reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs for each contract. 

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent 

of contract costs incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 

provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme”) 

under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate in the 

MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ relevant income and are charged 

to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer 

contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.



Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited52

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Employee benefits – continued

(b) Pension obligations – continued

The Group also participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC. 

The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. 

The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement 

scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are 

measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the 

date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for 

the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 

necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 

those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned 

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. 

The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are 

outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with the 

costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 

giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 

which they become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss 

because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items 

that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 

and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 

for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 

utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where 

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Taxation – continued

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is 

realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred 

tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to 

settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a 

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Related parties – continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the following conditions applies: – continued

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 

related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the 

Company or to a parent of the Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements are identified from the 

financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose of allocating 

resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have 

similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of productions 

processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the 

nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 

share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 

other than inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 

impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 

extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Impairment of assets – continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 

treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to 

the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 

unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the 

present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 

the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose 

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as 

contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting 

period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in 

the financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s 

property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives 

and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the 

depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-

off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess the fair values of property, plant and equipment. 

In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves certain estimates. The 

directors have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current 

market conditions. Based on this valuation, impairment of property, plant and equipment has to be made if the 

carrying amounts of certain property, plant and equipment are higher than their fair values.

(c) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 

costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the 

historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result 

of changes in customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will reassess the estimates by the end of each 

reporting period.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES – continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – continued

(d) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the 

trade and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor. 

Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The 

identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is 

different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and other receivables 

and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions of the 

debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may 

be required.

(e) Allowance for slow-moving inventories and net realisable value of inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of 

inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome 

in future is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and 

allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 

of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical 

experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of 

changes in customer taste and competitor actions in response to serve industry cycles. The Group will reassess the 

estimates by the end of each reporting period.

(f) Income tax

Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 

calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the 

final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate 

risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s is exposed to currency risks primarily arising from the its bank balances in United States dollar (“USD”). 

At the end of the reporting period, if USD had strengthened or weakened by 5% (2015: 5%) against RMB, with 

all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the year would have been RMB1,541,000 (2015: 

RMB1,511,000) lower or higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation.

The Group’s is also exposed to currency risks primarily arising from the its bank balances in Hong Kong dollar 

(“HK$”). At the end of the reporting period, if HK$ had strengthened or weakened by 5% (2015: 5%) against RMB, 

with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the year would have been RMB625,000 (2015: 

RMB2,896,000) lower or higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation.

(b) Credit risk

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that counterparties fail to perform their obligations at the 

end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amounts of those 

assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to 

its trade and other receivables. In order to minimise credit risk, the Directors review the recoverable amount of each 

individual receivable regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable receivable. 

In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentration of credit risk as approximately 41.6% (2015: 

27.9%) and 60.0% (2015: 35.4%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and 

the five largest customers, respectively.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

(c) Liquidity risk – continued

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other payables

With 1 year or on demand 204,567 207,773

Total contractual undiscounted cash flow 204,567 207,773

Carrying amounts 204,567 207,773

(d) Interest rate risk

At 30 June 2016, as the Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk, the Group’s operating cash flows are 

substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

(e) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement 

of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

(f) Categories of financial instruments

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Trade and bills receivables 13,862 22,266

Other receivables 2,189 3,960

Bank and cash balances 132,669 153,812

148,720 180,038

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 204,567 207,773



2015-2016 Annual Report 61

7. REVENUE

The Group’s revenue is analysed as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of goods 35,139 98,006

Contract services income 1,963 17,711

37,102 115,717

8. OTHER INCOME

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Government grants (note) 4,628 1,734

Interest income 422 1,041

Net foreign exchange gain 5,550 2,025

Waiver of trade payables 4,307 –

Others 702 1,044

15,609 5,844

Note:  Government grants are awarded to the Group by local government agencies as incentives primarily to encourage the development 

of the Group and its contribution to the local economic development. No conditions have been applied on such government grants 

from the local government agencies.

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year, the Group has two reportable operating segments for financial reporting purposes, reported as (i) the 

manufacture and sale of solar products and (ii) construction of photovoltaic cells.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 4 to the financial statements. 

Segment profits or losses do not include interest income, income tax, impairment loss on various assets and other 

unallocated corporate income and expenses. Segment assets do not include bank and cash balances and other unallocated 

corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include current tax liabilities and other unallocated corporate liabilities.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

Construction of 

Photovoltaic 

cells

The 

manufacture 

and sale of 

solar products Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 30 June 2016:

Revenue from external customers 1,963 35,139 37,102

Segment loss (2,207) (42,615) (44,822)

Depreciation 1 24,320 24,321

Income tax – – –

Other material non-cash items:

Impairment losses on various assets – 2,946 2,946

Additions to segment non-current assets – 3,776 3,776

At 30 June 2016:

Segment assets 7,666 238,070 245,736

Segment liabilities 2,261 274,787 277,048

Year ended 30 June 2015:

Revenue from external customers 17,711 98,006 115,717

Segment loss (5,711) (47,151) (52,862)

Depreciation 1 22,064 22,065

Income tax – – –

Other material non-cash items:

Impairment losses on various assets – 511 511

Additions to segment non-current assets – 2,899 2,899

At 30 June 2015:

Segment assets 12,754 267,046 279,800

Segment liabilities 10,773 274,651 285,424
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Reconciliations of reportable segment loss, assets and liabilities:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit or loss:

Total loss of reportable segments (44,822) (52,862)

Impairment losses on various assets (2,946) (511)

Corporate and unallocated loss (10,282) (17,563)

Consolidated loss before tax (58,050) (70,936)

Assets:

Total assets of reportable segments 245,736 279,800

Bank and cash balances 132,669 153,812

Corporate and unallocated assets 15,322 14,839

Consolidated total assets 393,727 448,451

Liabilities:

Total liabilities of reportable segments 277,048 285,424

Corporate and unallocated liabilities 16,251 8,167

Consolidated total liabilities 293,299 293,591

Geographical information:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue:

The PRC 32,756 114,473

Others 4,346 1,244

37,102 115,717
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Information about revenue from the Group’s customer individually contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is 

as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A * 45,110

* No corresponding revenue contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group in the respective year.

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the locations of the customers.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets:

The PRC 219,693 243,110

United States of America 12,207 10,623

231,900 253,733

10. FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings – 984
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11. INCOME TAX

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax:

– Provision for the PRC enterprise income tax – –

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 as the Group did not 

generate any assessable profits arising from Hong Kong during both years. Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have 

been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, 

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss before tax are as follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before tax (58,050) (70,936)

Notional tax on loss before tax calculated at the PRC statutory rate (14,513) (17,734)

Effect of different tax rates in other tax jurisdictions 1,185 2,544

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 6,435 5,682

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 8,072 10,448

Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,179) (940)

Income tax for the year – –

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB230,313,000 (2015: 

RMB198,025,000) available for offset against future profits, subject to agreement by PRC tax authority. The directors of the 

Company considered not to recognise any deferred tax assets due to the unpredictability of future profit stream.
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Auditor’s remuneration 1,461 1,583

Cost of inventories sold and services provided 38,349 126,053

Depreciation 25,524 24,794

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 260 260

Net loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 274 –

Impairment losses on various assets:

Property, plant and equipment 1,301 –

Trade and bills receivables 874 511

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 771 –

2,946 511

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration – note 13):

Salaries, bonus and allowances 19,102 23,574

Equity-settled share-based payments – (758)

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 1,474 1,612

20,576 24,428

Net foreign exchange gain (5,550) (2,025)
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director were as follows:

Fee
Salaries and
allowances

Share-based
payments

Retirement
benefit
scheme

contributions Total
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Yi 1 – 1,228 – 61 1,289
Mr. Yeung Sik Keung 2 – 136 – 7 143
Ms. Yu Ying 3 111 174 – 9 294

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yan Lihu 4 129 – – – 129
Mr. Hu Bing 5 129 – – – 129
Mr. Cai Zhipeng 6 97 – – – 97
Mr. Wu Yi 7 32 – – – 32

Total for 2016 498 1,538 – 77 2,113

Fee
Salaries and
allowances

Share-based
payments

Retirement
benefit
scheme

contributions Total
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Yi 1 – 1,748 – 87 1,835
Mr. Yeung Sik Keung 2 – 420 – 21 441

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yan Lihu 4 294 – – – 294
Mr. Hu Bing 5 294 – – – 294
Mr. Wu Yi 7 294 – – – 294

Total for 2015 882 2,168 – 108 3,158

Notes

1 Resigned on 7 September 2016

2 Appointed on 3 October 2012 and resigned on 1 September 2015

3 Appointed on 29 April 2016

4 Appointed on 15 May 2013 and resigned on 20 July 2016

5 Appointed on 15 May 2013 and resigned on 19 August 2016

6 Appointed on 22 October 2015

7 Appointed on 15 May 2013 and resigned on 22 October 2015
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS – continued

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included one (2015: one) director whose emoluments are 

reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2015: four) individuals are set out below:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries and allowances 1,992 2,025

Retirement benefit scheme contributions – (96)

1,992 1,929

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals

2016 2015

Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining 

the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 30 June 2016 (2015: nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the loss for year attributable 

to owners of the Company of approximately RMB58,050,000 (2015: approximately RMB70,936,000) and the weighted 

average number of 1,584,683,486 (2015: 1,584,683,486) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Plant and

machinery

Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost
At 1 July 2014 191,729 662,949 4,431 2,438 182 861,729
Additions – 873 71 380 1,575 2,899
Currency realignment (169) (9) (6) – – (184)

At 30 June 2015 and 1 July 2015 191,560 663,813 4,496 2,818 1,757 864,444
Additions – 2,948 117 559 874 4,498
Disposals – – – (493) – (493)
Transfers – 528 – – (528) –
Currency realignment 948 9 65 64 – 1,086

At 30 June 2016 192,508 667,298 4,678 2,948 2,103 869,535

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 July 2014 33,579 558,430 2,756 1,292 – 596,057
Charge for the year 8,433 15,690 476 195 – 24,794
Disposals – – – – – –
Currency realignment (3) (1) (2) – – (6)

At 30 June 2015 and 1 July 2015 42,009 574,119 3,230 1,487 – 620,845
Charge for the year 9,031 15,676 523 294 – 25,524
Impairment – – – – 1,301 1,301
Disposals – – – (219) – (219)
Currency realignment 44 – 11 3 – 58

At 30 June 2016 51,084 589,795 3,764 1,565 1,301 647,509

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2016 141,424 77,503 914 1,383 802 222,026

At 30 June 2015 149,551 89,694 1,266 1,331 1,757 243,599

In assessing whether impairment is required for the property, plant and equipment, the carrying value is compared with 

the respective recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 

and value in use. The Group engaged an independent valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited, to determine the fair value of the 

property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2016 (the “Fair Value”). The fair value of property, plant and equipment was 

determined using the market approach. The recoverable amount used in assessing the impairment loss is the fair value less 

costs of disposal with reference to the Fair Value. The fair value was under level 3 fair value measurement.

The assumptions have been determined based on and in reference to market value of the property, plant and equipment.
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current portion 9,874 10,134

Current portion 260 260

10,134 10,394

18. INVENTORIES

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 2,124 3,154

Work in progress – 1,225

Finished goods 6,064 7,020

8,188 11,399

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade and bills receivables are mainly arisen from sales of solar products. No interest is charged on the trade receivables.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 13,762 18,346

Bills receivables 100 3,920

13,862 22,266



2015-2016 Annual Report 71

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES – continued

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 to 120 days to its trade customers. The following is aging analysis of trade 

and bills receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

60 days or less 3,847 6,724

61 to 120 days 3,859 2,114

121 to 180 days 1,145 11,527

Over 180 days 5,011 1,901

13,862 22,266

Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired

The aging analysis of trade and bills receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as 

follows:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Neither past due nor impaired 7,706 8,838

Less than 90 days past due 1,145 11,527

Over 90 days past due 5,011 1,901

13,862 22,266

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments 4,659 3,021

Deposits 1,113 1,633

Value-added tax receivables 48 1,452

Other receivables 1,028 875

6,848 6,981
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21. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The Group’s bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 1.27% per annum as at 30 June 

2016 (2015: 0.01% to 1.27% per annum).

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies amounted to approximately RMB83,617,000 as at 30 June 2016 (2015: 

RMB81,544,000) is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 192,733 197,400

Bills payables 1,621 1,499

194,354 198,899

Accrued expenses 3,670 4,850

Salaries and staff welfare payables 1,560 2,366

Receipts in advance 88,732 85,818

Others 4,983 1,658

293,299 293,591

Bills payables represent bank drafts that are non-interest bearing and due within six months. Such bank drafts have been 

arranged with third-party financial institutions to settle the purchases of inventory.

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 90 to 180 days. The following is an aged analysis of trade 

and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

90 days or less 3,928 3,317

91 to 180 days 1,994 902

Over 180 days 188,432 194,680

194,354 198,899
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Amount

US$

Authorised:

Ordinary shares at US$0.0001 each

At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2016 5,000,000,000 500,000

Number of shares Amount Amount

US$ RMB’000

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares at US$0.0001 each

At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2016 1,584,683,486 149,468 1,000

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 13 September 2010, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted by a resolution of the board of 

directors. The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The total number of shares in respect of which option may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% 

of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The 

number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to any individual in any 

one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval 

from the Company’s shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price 

of the Company’s shares on the date of grant as quoted on the quotation sheet on the Stock Exchange, (ii) the average 

closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant as quoted on the quotation 

sheet on the Stock Exchange; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS – continued

On 9 March 2011, the Company has granted to eligible participants, including directors and other employees of the 

Company, a total of 24,910,000 share options to subscribe for ordinary shares of nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the 

share capital of the Company under pursuant to the Scheme. One fourth of the options will vest on 9 September 2011 and 

on each of the three subsequent anniversaries thereafter. All unexercised options shall lapse on 9 March 2018.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2016 2015

Number of 

share options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

Number of 

share options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

HK$ HK$

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6,130,000 4.8 8,145,000 4.8

Forfeited during the year – 4.8 (2,015,000) 4.8

Outstanding at the end of the year 6,130,000 4.8 6,130,000 4.8

Exercisable at the end of the year 6,130,000 4.8 6,130,000 4.8

25. RESERVES

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature of the statutory reserve of the Group

(i) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares of the Company and 

proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company is 

distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the 

dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due 

in the ordinary course of business.
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25. RESERVES – continued

(b) Nature of the statutory reserve of the Group – continued

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operation. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in 

note 4.

(iii) Statutory surplus

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory reserve fund were made in accordance with the relevant PRC 

rules and regulations and the articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC and 

were approved by the respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into 

paid-up capital provided that the balance of the statutory reserve fund after such conversion is not less than 

25% of their registered capital.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net profits, as 

determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory reserve fund until 

the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this fund must be made before 

distribution of dividends to owners.

The statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to the reserve is determined by a resolution 

passed by the board of directors of Shenzhen Trony Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd. 深圳市創

益科技發展有限公司 (“Trony Science”) in accordance with its Articles of Association. Statutory surplus reserve 

can be used to make up for previous years’ losses or converted into additional capital of Trony Science.
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25. RESERVES – continued

(c) Reserves of the Company

Share 

premium

Share-based 

payment reserve

Accumulated 

loss Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 2014 1,895,217 20,536 (1,683,540) 232,213

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (77,885) (77,885)

Share-based payments – (758) – (758)

Forfeiture of share options – (3,810) 3,810 –

At 30 June 2015 1,895,217 15,968 (1,757,615) 153,570

At 1 July 2015 1,895,217 15,968 (1,757,615) 153,570

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (54,142) (54,142)

At 30 June 2016 1,895,217 15,968 (1,811,757) 99,428
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26. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries – –

Amounts due from subsidiaries 192,064 231,527

192,064 231,527

Current assets

Other receivables and prepayments 97 79

Bank and cash balances 14,189 1,056

14,286 1,135

Current liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries 103,273 70,546

Accruals and other payables 2,649 7,546

105,922 78,092

Net current liabilities (91,636) (76,957)

NET ASSETS 100,428 154,570

Capital and reserves

Share capital 1,000 1,000

Reserves 99,428 153,570

TOTAL EQUITY 100,428 154,570
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are also identified as members of key management of the Group, 

are set out in note 13.

28. LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in 

respect of land and buildings are analysed as follows:

Group

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 1,013 665

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,279 2,645

2,292 3,310

29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results 

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 

the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY – continued

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and
paid-up capital

Percentage of the
ownership interest/

voting power Principal
activitiesDirect Indirect

Trony Solar Holdings  
(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 100% – Investment holding

Shenzhen Trony Science and 
Technology Development 
Co., Ltd*#

The PRC RMB300,000,000 – 100% Development, 
manufacture and 
sales of solar 
products

Sure Goal Limited BVI 100 
ordinary shares of 

US$1 each

– 100% Investment holding

Trony East Africa Limited Nairobi, Kenya Kenya Shilling 10,000 – 100% Sales of solar products

* The English name is for identification purpose only

# Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

30. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there are certain updates in respect of the status of suspension of trading in 

shares of the Company, and further details of which are stated in note 2 to the financial statements.

31. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2016.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Year ended 30 June

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RESULTS

Turnover 141,788 94,189 109,705 115,717 37,102

Loss for the year (2,595,716) (171,043) (80,219) (70,936) (58,050)

As at 30 June

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 910,733 665,497 580,921 448,451 393,727

Total liabilities (449,391) (364,203) (354,732) (293,591) (293,299)

Shareholders’ fund 461,342 301,294 226,189 154,860 100,428
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